STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000161

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

KATHY LEONARD REVAN,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TARA DAWN SHURLING
Attorney and Counselor at Law
S. C. Bar No. 5099

3614 Landmark Drive, Suite A
Columbia, SC 29204
(803) 738-8622
(803) 738-1600 FAX
tdslaw@shurlinglaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

I.

The lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant Motion for Immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the testimony and evidence adduced during the hearing on Appellant's claim of immunity pursuant to §16-11-440 clearly established that she was entitled to immunity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Kathy Leonard Revan, was indicted by the Laurens County Grand Jury grand jury during the October, 2011 term for Murder (2011-GS-30-1625) and Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime (2011-GS-30-1626) and Attempted Murder (2011-GS-30-1627). She was represented in the trial court by Kim R. Varner, Esquire, and Evan Bramhall, Esquire. The Appellant proceeded to trial by jury on January 13 - 17, 2014 before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. The State was represented at trial by Lance Sheek, Senior Assistant Solicitor, and Taylor Daniel, Assistant Solicitor. At the conclusion of this trial, the Appellant was found guilty and was convicted of Voluntary Manslaughter (2011-GS-30-1625), Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime (2011-GS-30-1626), Attempted Murder (2011-GS-30-1627). .”

Appellant was sentenced on January 17, 2014 to twenty (20) years for Manslaughter/Voluntary Manslaughter (2011-GS-30-1625), five (5) years for Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime (2011-GS-30-1626), and twenty years for Attempted Murder (2011-GS-30-1627).

The Appellant served and filed a timely Notice of Appeal from his judgment and sentence. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I.

The lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion for Immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act¹ where the testimony and evidence adduced during the hearing on Appellant's claim of immunity pursuant to §16-11-440 clearly established that she was entitled to immunity.

SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY, ARGUMENTS AND EVIDENCE PRESENTED DURING IMMUNITY HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO §16-11-440

ARGUMENT OF GROUNDS FOR MOTION

Prior to the commencement of Appellant's General Sessions trial, she made a Motion for Immunity pursuant to the §16-11-440 of the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Appellant argued that she was entitled to immunity under the act based upon, A) the presumption of reasonable fear and B) her right to stand her ground. In support of this position Trial Counsel argued the following.

- It was undisputed that the incident happened in Appellant's home and that she had a reasonable fear of imminent peril. ROA p. 9, l. 24 - p. 10, l. 1.
- Defendant owns the home in Laurens County. It was her residence. At the time she was living with a gentleman names Lynn Straley², who was deceased at the time of trial. Straley had terminal cancer. In June, 2011 his daughter, Tammy, and her female significant other, Shawn, showed up for a visit. They had been traveling around the country staying with various relatives and were ultimately headed to Costa Rica to raise ostriches. What was expected to be a two to three day visit turned into six weeks. Problems began to develop. ROA p. 10, l. 1-24.
- The deceased Shawn confronted Defendant about interfering with her relationship with Tammy; the daughter of Mr. Straley. ROA p. 11, ll. 3-6.
- Following a heated discussion, Tammy and Shawn were instructed to pack up their stuff and leave the residence. ROA p. 11, ll. 7-12.

¹ Hereafter, the Act.

² Hereafter, Straley.

- A physical altercation followed with Shawn initially hitting Defendant and the two ended up on the floor. Tammy was outside when the physical altercation was initiated by Shawn and the strike happened out of Straley's sight as well.
- When Straley's daughter, Tammy came back in the house, the two women, both of whom were about 20 years younger than Defendant, beat her badly. She had two bad black eyes and a broken nose and was bleeding. ROA p. 11, l. 18 - p. 12, l. 2.
- There was a significant weight difference between the Victim³ and Appellant; approximately 100 pounds difference. ROAp. 11, l. 24.
- Not only was Appellant approximately twenty years younger and double teamed by Shawn and Tammy, she suffers from multiple medical problems. ROA p. 11, ll. 13-18.
- Straley stopped the fight. Defendant went to the bathroom to clean up because she was bleeding. Before coming back out of the bedroom she armed herself. She had been attacked and believed another beating was about to occur.
- Upon exiting her bedroom she found that Tammy and Shawn, who had been told to leave, were still there and Tammy was coming towards her. Appellant fired a shot intended as a warning shot. It hit Shawn in the femoral artery and she died shortly thereafter.

SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY FROM *IN CAMERA* CASTLE HEARING

KEITH MCINTOSH

He testified to his position as a Lieutenant with Laurens County Sheriff's Department. He had been with the department for 12 years. He confirmed that on August 11, 2011 he was the investigator on call. He received a dispatch call that there had been a shooting on Revan Road in Mountville. He proceeded there. ROA p. 16, l. 23 – p. 17, l. 4. Lt. McIntosh estimated his arrival time at 35-40 minutes after the shooting. When he arrived, Road Deputies, Appellant, Straley, the deceased and Tammy Jo Morrigan⁴ were on the scene, in addition to the EMS personal who had responded to the scene. First spoke with road deputies, Lt. Marty Grain, Sgt. Will. Johnston and had them fill him in on what they found

³ Hereafter, Shawn.

⁴ Hereafter, Tammy.

when they arrived at the scene. ROA p. 17, ll. 7-22.

Lt. McIntosh was not able to recall which principal he interviewed first. ROA p. 17, l. 23 – p. 18, l. 7. Lt. J. D. Shelton, there and he took statements from both Tammy and Straley. ROA p. 18, ll. 8-25. McIntosh's description of Straley's statement was very simple to say the least. ROA p. 19, ll. 1-3. His description of Straley's statement lacked much of the detail that was in fact in the deposition was ultimately introduced during this proceeding. He basically described Straley as having stated that there was an altercation he heard and went in to attempt to break it up. Left room again heard gun shot and came back into the room. ROA p. 19, ll. 4-10. He did a walk through of the scene, which was a double wide trailer, but did not prepare diagram of the scene. He opined that this "more than likely would have been SLED." ROA p. 19, ll. 11-23.

McIntosh testified that he entered the residence through front door. His description of where Shawn was shot and where Defendant was standing is not very clear and was full of references to what they "determined" and what their "understanding" was without explanations. His testimony is unfortunately full of "I was told" references without any explanation as to who the information came to him from. ROA p. 20, l. 2 – p. 23, l. 19.

McIntosh, summarized his conversation with Tammy saying she reported that she had been out with her father that day. They had bought a weed eater. She was outback for a good while and when she came in Defendant and Shawn, was on the floor with each other. She described them as "partially one on the other" and the Defendant had the Shawn by the hair. This time he describes Tammy having to try hard to get Defendant to let go of Shawn's hair. "She did what she had to do to get Defendant to turn loose." He further stated, "Defendant then got up, went to her room and washed up and came back out with a gun."

ROA p. 23, l. 20 - p. 24, l. 18. Ultimately, McIntosh admits Tammy had actually reported that Shawn was on top of Defendant. He then tried to explain his testimony by saying that was right because "Defendant pulled her down by the hair." McIntosh goes on to say according to *other statements* "she was off to the side somewhat". The record reflects that Tammy, was the sole eye witness to what position these two women were in when Tammy walked back in the house. ROA p. 24, l. 19 - p. 25, l. 7. McIntosh puts Shawn's age at thirty something and "a little bit heavier," than Defendant. Would only concede Shawn was "bigger" than Defendant. ROA p. 25, l. 11-25.

He concedes Defendant was 20 something years older than Shawn, and admitted that Tammy said she hit Defendant several times in the eye with her fist. Then he reported these blows only took place after Defendant kicked Tammy. ROA p. 26, ll. 1-17. McIntosh testified that Tammy was in her thirties about the size of Defendant. ROA p. 26, ll. 18-25.

McIntosh admits being aware that Tammy had military experience. He declined to describe her as muscular. He did described Tammy as 5'6" to 5' 7" tall, 175 to 180 lbs and not fat or obese. ROA p. 27, ll. 1-22.

It is apparent from McIntosh's testimony that he viewed everything from the perspective of believing Tammy's version of the facts. He minimizes Defendant's injuries and says he can't recall her telling him she couldn't even see out of her left eye or her needing medical attention for her eye. ROA p. 27, l. 23 -p. 30, l. 9.

A review of Appellant's photographs from after this beating verifies the severity of the beating she received obvious. These photographs were introduced at the trial that followed the immunity hearing, although it appears the Court had access to them during the hearing. When McIntosh was asked when was the last time he listened to the tape

(Defendant's interview) he indicated that he did not remember but stated, "we listened to it ---it's been a while, but we listened to it." ROA p. 30, ll. 10-12. McIntosh was questioned about the fact that Tammy claimed to have been attacked with a decorative sword and cut on her arm. McIntosh testified, "She did mention something about a decorative sword, yes." He acknowledged that they did not take any swords into evidence. It was his testimony that he could not remember whether he saw any at the scene. Curiously, he noted, "If they were there, we probably did." He then indicated that SLED took pictures at the scene. ROA p. 32, l. 11 - p. 33, l. 2. **The transcript indicates that during McIntosh's testimony, Part I of Appellant's interview by law enforcement played for judge but not transcribed.⁵** ROA p. 34, ll. 12-20. The CDs of this interview were later introduced as State's Ex. No. 9 at Appellant's trial. ROA p. 244 marked for ID and ROA p. 478 admitted into evidence. The content of these recordings, although published in open court, were not "taken down" by the Court Reporter and have not been transcribed as a part of the available record of either proceeding.

McIntosh acknowledges that there were spots all over Defendant's shirt. He says it was blood, but admits it was never tested to see if it matched Defendant or someone else on the scene at the time of this incident. ROA p. 36, ll. 15-23.

McIntosh testified to the presence of blood in the residence where the physical altercation took place. Blood drops in the hall. Acknowledges that they could have asked for testing, but didn't. He stated that "SLED didn't require it." ROA p. 36, l. 24 -p. 37, l. 15.

⁵ A subsequent amendment to this transcript by the Court Reporter confirmed that both parts were in fact played for the Court.

MICHAEL BENJAMIN BLACKMON

This witness was also an Officer with the Sheriff's Office in Laurens County. He arrived after McIntosh. McIntosh was lead investigator on call that evening. In addition to the individuals mentioned by McIntosh in his testimony, Blackmon says someone from their unit named Lt. Glasgow was at the scene. ROA p. 38, ll. 1-25. This witness spoke with Staley and Tammy and testified that he was told Defendant has some sort of altercation with the "victim" and Defendant had shot her.

When Defense Counsel Varner asks to see the witness's notes, Blackmon hands them over and says the Solicitor's Office was given a copy of case file, but he didn't personally turn it or anything over to Defense Counsel because it wasn't his case. ROA p. 39, ll. 12-14 - p. 40, ll. 10-12. Blackmon says he interviewed Defendant on tape and wrote out her statement for her. He obtained copies of 911 tapes. He never went inside residence. He says McIntosh interviewed Tammy, but he "believes" she wrote her statement herself. He witnessed it. Staley was interviewed and his statement was taken by another officer, Lt. Shelton. ROA p. 40, l. 16 - p. 41, l. 21. When asked what forensic or chemical testing was done or DNA testing, he once again referenced his notes and then said, with written consent, buccal swabs were taken from Defendant and Staley. ROA p. 41, l. 25 -p. 42, l. 11.

TAMMY JO MORRIGAN

Tammy testified that the deceased, Shawn Faye Morrigan, was married to her. She then clarified that they were not legally married in any state that would recognize their marriage. She didn't take Shawn's last name, they picked a last name and both had their names changed in Atlanta. ROA p. 42, l. 18 - p. 43, l. 17. She had met Shawn on line. They had known each other for a year and a half when Shawn died. Tammy stated that she

had bachelor's degrees in math and computer science and a master's degree in finance. According to her testimony, she was in military for four years, was honorably discharged and was an air traffic controller not a drill sergeant in the Army. ROA p. 43, l. 18 - p. 45, l. 5. She admits in her testimony that she is trained in hand-to-hand combat, but noted that she doesn't do weight lifting because her ankles are fused and do not move. ROA p. 45, ll. 6-23.

Tammy testified that when she and Shawn came to her father's home in June, 2011, it was their original intent to stay just a few days. They had been traveling around the country. They had stayed with her sister for a few days, but said for the most part they had been camping since they left Atlanta, April 1, 2011. They stayed longer because her father, who was in the middle of chemotherapy, asked them to. At the time of the trial, Tammy was 48 years old. Shawn was a nurse and was 37 years old when she died. ROA p. 45, l. 24 - p. 48, l. 21. She stated her belief that Defendant was guilty of murder and other charges. Declared a hostile witness without objection from the State. ROA p. 48, l. 22 - p. 49, l. 10. Tammy denied telling Defendant that she and Shawn had burned up a car, a 2007 Volvo titled in Shawn's name, in order to get "out from under it." Acknowledged that they did file an insurance claim on the car. The loan was apparently in Tammy's name. Her actual testimony was, "I held the loan on it." ROA p. 49, l. 12 - p. 50, l. 23.

Tammy also denied Appellant had arguments over Shawn and her smoking pot. Says pot was in fact procured for her father from Defendant's son. Father was losing weight rapidly and had no appetite due to cancer. She did not, however, deny that she and Shawn were smoking in the house, but said happened very rarely. ROA p. 50, l. 24 - p. 51, l. 16. She claimed that there had been no argument about them staying up all night and disturbing her father. ROA p. 51, ll. 17-22. She also claimed they contributed to the household while they

were there both by buying food and helping her father do work around the farm. ROA p. 51, l. 23 - p. 52, l. 6.

Appellant attempted to question Tammy about her knowledge concerning Shawn stealing medical supplies at the doctor's offices. State objects on grounds of relevance. Judge did not clearly rule, but Defense Counsel moved on. ROA p. 52, l. 7 - p. 53, l. 23.

Tammy testified that the night before Shawn died, Appellant and her father talked to her because of their concerns about her relationship with Shawn. They were afraid all that Shawn was interested in was her money. Tammy testified that this was ridiculous because Shawn had access to all her money and had for a year and a half before then. Significantly, she acknowledged that she told Shawn all about this conversation. The next morning the two of them left the house, before Appellant and her father because they went car shopping. They came back in the late afternoon. ROA p. 53, l. 25 - p. 55, l. 2. Tammy recalled that her father and Appellant came home just before it got completely dark. They had purchased a weed-eater. She and her father went outside, gassed up the weed-eater, and she worked on weeds for about 15-20 minutes. She quit when it got completely dark. When she came in the house, Shawn was in the kitchen and came toward her crying. She testified that Shawn said she just couldn't take "their negativity" any more and wanted them to leave. She stated that she had agreed to leave. ROA p. 55, l. 3 - p. 56, l. 13. Tammy claimed her father tried to get them to stay and sleep on it, but stated that Appellant was screaming for her father to tell them to get out. They were packing up and they had taken a load out to the car. Next she heard Shawn yell that Appellant was throwing their stuff out the door. ROA p. 56, l. 15, - p. 57, l. 2. Tammy said that Shawn took off back into the home. Tammy said she wasn't as fast as Shawn and by the time she got back inside Appellant had Shawn pinned on the

floor with both hands in her hair and she couldn't move. ROA p. 57, ll. 1-6.

Tammy claimed Shawn was on her back. She said Defendant was behind her with Shawn's hair in her hands. She admits she didn't see it, but said it "looked like" Appellant had come up behind her and pulled her down by the hair. Tammy claimed she dropped to her knees, and was trying to get Appellant off Shawn when father came in and screamed for her to get off Appellant. She testified that she put her hands in the air, and when she did, Appellant kicked her. According to her testimony, that is when she punched Defendant three times in the eye. ROA p. 58, l. 12 - p. 60, l. 8. Tammy claimed that she had no idea how Appellant's right eye so badly blackened or how she got a broken nose. She stated that when Appellant let go of Shawn, she was trying to get her up, when Appellant disappeared into the bedroom. Tammy recalled that her father's feeding tube had gotten pulled out. He was at kitchen sink trying to get, she assumed, his bleeding to stop. Tammy's testimony denies that her father broke up the altercation. She testified that her father was a coward and said he had been a coward his whole life. In her hearing testimony she makes the comment that after she took gun away from Defendant she had to yell for father to "come into kitchen and take it." She stated that was after Appellant shot Shawn and tried to shoot her too. ROA p. 60, l. 9 - p. 61, l. 2.

- Tammy testified that it took her a couple minutes to get Shawn off the floor. She said that Shawn had a couple herniated disks and was hurting badly from the altercation. "Somebody yelled" and she turned around to see Appellant with a gun. According to her, Appellant pointed it and then moved her hand to the side and pulled the trigger. Next, Appellant brought gun back around toward her face. Tammy testified that she could see Appellant pulling the trigger, so she grabbed the gun and Appellant shot into the ceiling.

ROA p. 62, l. 2 - p. 63, l. 18.

Tammy claimed that as her father was coming in, Appellant grabbed fancy walking stick with long knife in it. She testified Appellant was trying to stab her with it. It was her testimony that her father came and took it away from Appellant. ROA p. 64, l. 20 - p. 65, l. 8. She claimed she got "a couple of small cuts from it. She didn't quite get it all the way out." ROA p. 66, l. 1-6. Admits she didn't tell police about it when she was questioned at the scene. She told police about the knife later when she was giving her statement.

ROA p. 66, ll. 7-16. Tammy testified that it took a long time before "they" called 911. She stated that she could hear Appellant and her father in there discussing what they were going to tell the police. Claims to have heard her father tell Appellant "we better get down what we're gonna tell the police." Says police took no pictures of her cuts or stab marks. Tammy testified that police supposedly called ambulance for the concussion from when Defendant kicked her in the head. She claimed EMS told her she should probably go to the hospital, but police said they would rather her give her statement first and then go. She could not, however, remember what police officer said she needed to give a statement before going to the hospital. ROA p. 66, l. 17 - p. 68, l. 13. There was no testimony about her even going to a hospital at a later date or any other basis for the claim of a concussion.

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