ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 14 2016

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY  
Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-000161

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

KATHY LEONARD REVAN, .....APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 516  
Greenwood, South Carolina 29648  
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court properly found Appellant failed to carry her burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that she is entitled to immunity from criminal prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in failing to find she was immune from prosecution under the Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 to -450, because she was in her residence, standing her ground against an attack while under a reasonable fear of imminent peril of great bodily injury or death. She claims the trial court abused its discretion in finding she was no longer in imminent danger once the initial physical altercation between her and Victim had been broken up. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is entirely without merit. The trial court followed the appropriate procedure under rulings from this Court and our supreme court—holding a pretrial hearing, evaluating the credibility of the witnesses and weighing the evidence, and ultimately finding Appellant did not carry her burden of proving she was entitled to immunity under the Act. Appellant's argument cannot prevail under this Court's standard of review. As in State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013), Appellant's claim of self-defense presented a quintessential jury question, which is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution. The trial court's finding that Appellant failed to carry her burden of proving she was in imminent peril at the time the fatal shot was fired has evidentiary support and is not controlled by an error of law; therefore, it must be affirmed.

### **Standard of Review**

This Court reviews the trial court's pretrial determination of immunity for an abuse of discretion. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. at 370, 752 S.E.2d at 266. In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but, instead, simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829 (emphasis added); see also State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 885 (2012) ("The trial court will only be reversed when there is no evidence to support the ruling below."). "[T]he trial court's ruling will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." State v. Sheldon, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585, 585-586 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs only when the trial court's conclusions lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 480, 688 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2010); see also Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 684, 511 S.E.2d 396, 400 (Ct. App. 1999) ("In appeals of pretrial rulings, this Court is 'bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law.'" (quoting State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993))).

### **The Protection of Persons and Property Act**

The subsection in the Act which creates immunity provides:

A person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use

of deadly force, unless the person against whom deadly force was used is a law enforcement officer . . . .

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450 (Supp. 2010). A claim of immunity under the Act must be determined pretrial and the defendant has the burden of proving entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity. Curry, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. This includes each element of self-defense, save the duty to retreat. Id. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 266-67 (“[I]mmunity is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence.”)

Section 16-11-440 of the article, which is the central provision of the Act by which a person is permitted to use deadly force, states:

(A) person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle; and

(2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

(B) The presumption provided in subsection (A) does not apply if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used has the right to be in or is a lawful resident of the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle including, but not limited to, an owner, lessee, or titleholder; or

....

(C) A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, **if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person** or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (Supp. 2010) (emphasis added).

#### Discussion / Analysis

Ample evidence supports the trial court's denial of immunity under the Act. Indeed, the trial court's finding that Appellant did not meet her burden of proving "the parameters outlined in the statute" by a preponderance of the evidence is supported by evidence from the immunity hearing, both in regard to the trial court's specific finding of Appellant was not in imminent danger, as well as several alternative grounds on which immunity was properly denied. The trial court carefully considered the conflicting testimony from Morrigan and Appellant, necessarily assessed their credibility, and concluded Appellant was not in imminent danger when she fired the fatal shot. Therefore, the trial court's denial of immunity under the Act was not an error of law. The case was properly submitted to the jury, with the claim of self-defense being fully presented, and the State having to disprove at least one element of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial judge's pretrial immunity ruling must be affirmed.

In her brief on appeal, Appellant first argues the trial court should have presumed she had a reasonable fear of imminent peril under subsection (A) of the Act. (Brief of Appellant, p.25). However, this argument is not preserved for appellate review because it

was not specifically raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial court, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Indeed, the appellate court will not consider any issues that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). Here, although Appellant summarized the provisions of the Act (R.p.7-p.12), and later argued the court could review the shooting as a case where Appellant was trying to eject trespassers from her property, Appellant never actually claimed or argued she was entitled to the presumption of “reasonable fear of imminent peril or death or great bodily injury to himself or another person” described in subsection (A). (R.p.171-p.180). Similarly, when denying immunity the trial court did not expressly find Appellant was not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear found in subsection (A). (R.p.184, line 11-p.185, line 6). Appellant acknowledges the absence of such a ruling in her brief. (Brief of Appellant, p.26). Because the statutory presumption was neither raised to nor ruled upon the trial court, it is not a proper subject of appellate review.

Nevertheless, even if preserved, this argument fails on its merits for two reasons. First, subsection (B) specifically provides the presumption in subsection (A) does not apply if the person against whom the deadly force is used had a right to be in or is a lawful resident of the dwelling or residence. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(B) (Supp. 2010). “Residence” is defined in the Act as “a dwelling in which a person resides either temporarily or permanently or is visiting as an invited guest.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-430 (Supp. 2010). The evidence in the record clearly demonstrates Victim was

temporarily residing in the house with Appellant and Straley. Morrigan testified they had been living there for several weeks before the incident and helped support the household by purchasing food and working around the house. (R.p.52). Appellant herself acknowledged she gave permission for Morrigan and Victim to stay at her house to visit Straley as long as possible before he died. (R.p.105). Because Victim was a resident of the dwelling, Appellant was simply not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear in subsection (A).

Appellant claims this analysis overlooks the fact that Victim and Morrigan had been told to get out of the residence and argues “their status as guests had been terminated” and, therefore, the presumption should still apply. (Brief of Appellant, p.25). The State disagrees. Even though the definition of “residence” encompasses invited guests, Victim and Morrigan were more than invited guests. By contributing to the household and living there for an extended period of time, they were temporary residents, and Appellant’s attempt to downgrade their status to mere guests should be disregarded. In any event, the State submits a person’s status as a resident cannot be terminated instantaneously. Here, Victim and Morrigan were in the process of moving their belongings to the car in order to comply with Appellant’s request that they leave. Appellant admitted she got up from her chair to help them carry things out, not to eject them. (R.p.124). Victim’s status as a resident was still in effect when the shooting took place; therefore, Appellant was not entitled to the statutory presumption.

Second, and more importantly, the presumption in subsection (A) only applies if the person against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or

occupied vehicle, or is removing or attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (A)(1) (Supp. 2010). Absolutely no evidence was presented during the immunity hearing to suggest this was what was happening. Appellant never alleged Victim was unlawfully and forcefully entering the house; rather, everyone agreed Victim was already in the house when the initial altercation and the subsequent shooting occurred. Appellant also never alleged Victim was trying to remove another person from the house against his or her will. Therefore, even if this Court determines Victim's status as a guest was terminated the moment Appellant asked her to leave the residence, Appellant was still not entitled to the statutory presumption.

Also in her brief, Appellant challenges the State's argument at trial that she was not entitled to a claim of immunity because she was advancing a defense of accident rather than self-defense. She insists she was indeed pursuing a claim of self-defense and could seek immunity under the Act because she never claimed to have accidentally discharged the firearm, and instead claimed she intended to fire a warning shot, not aiming at anyone, with the intent to warn her attackers away. Appellant argues it makes no common sense to claim that a death or injury inadvertently flowing from a warning shot would not fall under the protections of the Act. (Brief of Appellant, p.25-p.26). As with her argument about the statutory presumption in subsection (A), this argument is also not preserved for appellate review because it was never ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693-94 (2003). Although both parties made arguments to the trial court about the State's contention that the Act should not apply where Appellant did not intend to shoot anybody, the trial court's ruling never

addressed this argument, and instead applied the terms of the Act and found Appellant had not proven she was not entitled to immunity. (R.p.184, line 11-p.185, line 6). Thus, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

If this Court finds the issue is preserved, the State maintains the factual scenario set forth by Appellant nevertheless precludes a finding of immunity under the Act. There is quite a difference between someone who: (1) intentionally attempts to shoot an attacker but accidentally shoots another person instead and (2) someone who fires a warning shot with no intent to shoot an attacker, and that warning shot hits another person. Both scenarios could be described as accidental; however, the intent behind the shot is critical in the context of a person who “has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) (Supp. 2010). The immunity provision itself grants immunity to “[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article . . . .” A person firing a warning shot has no intent to use deadly force against an attacker. Indeed, they have the opposite intent—trying to **not** use deadly force. Thus, a person who intentionally fires a warning shot should never qualify for immunity under the Act, and the trial court properly denied Appellant’s request.

Finally, Appellant challenges the trial court’s ruling that she was not in imminent danger when the fatal shot was fired. (Brief of Appellant, p.26-p.28). Appellant first contends it was “undisputed” that she had a reasonable fear of imminent peril. (Brief of Appellant, p.6). However, her actions following the initial altercation and her statement to the police suggest otherwise. According to Morrigan, a minute or two after the initial fight, as she was helping Victim up from the floor, Appellant appeared in the doorway

with a gun, pointed the gun to the side and pulled the trigger. (R.p.63). Appellant then turned the gun on Morrigan, who grabbed it and forced the second shot into the ceiling. (R.p.63). Later that night, when Appellant was giving a statement to police, she said she retrieved the gun from her bedroom before shooting Victim so she could “show them I mean business.” (State’s Exhibit #9: DVD Statement, Part 1). Thus, rather than being undisputed, this evidence contradicts Appellant’s self-serving testimony that she was in fear of imminent peril from Victim and Morrigan.

In any event, even if Appellant’s assertion was accurate, Appellant’s emphasis on the lack of directly contradictory evidence improperly discounts Appellant’s burden of proof and the trial court’s broad discretion in determining matters of credibility. Here, Appellant appears to argue that the Act should be construed to require that a trial court accept the accused’s version of the underlying facts. As our Supreme Court stated in Curry, if it adopted Appellant’s approach, the trial court would only be able to determine if the accused is not engaged in an unlawful activity and is in a place she has a right to be. 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. The Court expressly found that the General Assembly did not intend such an application. Id. Moreover, undisputed testimony is of no value if that testimony is not credible, and a lack of contradictory evidence does nothing to carry a proponent’s burden of proof. Here, although the trial court did not make a specific finding that Appellant was not credible, that finding was necessarily implied in the conclusion that there was no imminent danger at the time of the shooting.

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